MKM:EAG/MSM
F.#2017R01548

; _ ' WIEJUL =5 puo. ne
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT Pit 12: 06
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK ‘
o i 1 o o S e o e X f
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA INDICTMENT '
- against - L GR 1 8 3 3 7
' (T. 18, U.S.C., §§ 892(a), 894(a)(1),
~ JERRY CIAURI, 981(a)(1)(C), 982(a)(1), 982(b)(1),
also known as “Fat Jerry,” 1955(a), 1955(d), 1956(a)(1)(A)(i),
VITO DIFALCO, 1956(a)(1)(B)(1), 1956(h), 1962(c),
also known as “Victor” and 1963, 1963(a), 1963(m), 2 and 3551 et
“The Mask,” seq.; T. 21, U.S.C,, § 853(p); T. 28,
. SALVATORE DISANO, US.C, § 2461(c)) -
also known as “Sal Heaven,” :
ANTHONY LICATA, 1
also known as ' MOTO. J.
“Anthony Suits,” and MATSU o !
JOSEPH MARATEA, N
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POLLAK, M.J.
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THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:
INTRODUCTION

At all times relevant to this Indictment, unless otherwise indicated:

The Enterprise

14 The members and associates of the Colombo organized crime family of

La Cosa Nostra constituted an “enterprise,” as defined in Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1961(4), that is, a group of ihdividuals associated in fact (hereinafter, the “Colombo

crime family” and the “enterprise”). The enterprise constituted an ongoing organization

whose members functioned as a continuing unit for a common purpose of achieving the



'objectilves of the enterprise. The Colombo crime family engaged‘ in, and its activities
affected, interstate and foreign commerce. The Colombo crime family was an organized
criminal group that operated in the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere.

2. La Cosa Nostra operated through organized crime families. Five of
thes¢ crime families — the Bonanno, Colombo, Gambino, Genovese and Luchese crime
families — were headquartered in New York City and supervised criminal activity in New
York, in other areas of the United States and, in some instances, in other countries. Another
crime family, the Decavalcante crime family, operated principally in New Jersey, but from
time to time also in New York City.

i 3 The ruling body of La Cosa Nostra, known as the “Commission,”
consisted of leaders from each of the crime families. The Commission convened from time
to time to decide certain issues affecting all of the crime families, such as rules governing
crime family membership.

4. The Colombo crime family had a hierarchy and structure. The head of

| the Colombo crime family was known as the “boss.” The Colombo crime family boss was
assisted by an “underboss”‘ and a counselér known as a “consigliere.” Together, the boss,
underboss and consigliere wére the crime family’s “administration.” With the assistance of
the underboss and consigliere, the boss was responsible for, among other things, setting
policy and resolving disputes within and between La Cosa Nostra crime families and other
criminal groups. The administration further supervised, supported, protected and disciplined
the lower-ranking participants in the crime family. In return for their supervision and
protection, the administration received part of the illegal earnings generated by the crime

family. Members of the Colombo crime family served in an “acting” rather than “official”



capacity in the administration on occasion due to another administration member’s
incarceration or ill health, or for the purpose of seeking to insulate another. adminisﬁ*ation
member‘ from law enforcement scrutiny. Further, on occasion, the Colombo crime family
was overseen by a “panel” of crime family members that did not include the bos's, underboss
and/or consigliere. |

5. Below the administration of the Colombo crime family were numerous
“crews,” also known as “regimes” and “decinias.” Each crew was headed by a “captain,”
also known as a “skipper,” “caporegime” and “capodécina.” Each» cap’pain’s crew consisted |
of “soldiers” -and “assbciates.” The captain was responsible for supervising the criminal
activities of his crew and providing the crew with support and protection. In return, the |
captain often received a share of the crew’s earnings.

6. ‘Only members of the Colombo crime family could serve as a boss,
underboss, consigliere, éaptain or soldier. Members of the crime farhily(were referred to on
occasion as “goodfellas” or “wiseguys,” or as persons who had been “straightened out” or
who had their “button.” Associates were individuals who were not members of the crime
family, but who nonetheless engaged in criminal activity for, and under the protection of, the
crime family. | |

7 Many requirements éxisted before an associate could become a member
of the Colombo crime family. The Commission of La Cosa Nostra from time to time

' lirnited the number of new members who could be added to a crime family. An associate
was also required to be proposed for membership by an existing crime family member.
When the crime family’s administraﬁon considered the associate worthy of membership, the

administration then circulated the proposed associate’s name on a list given to other La Cosa



Nostra crime families, which the other crime families reviewed and either approved or
disapproved. Unless there was an objection to the associate’s membership, the crime family-
then “inducted,” or “straightened out,” the associate as a member of the crime family in a
secret ceremony. During the ceremony, the associate, among other things, swore allegiance
for life to the crime family above all else, even the associate’s own femily; swore, on penalty
of death, never to reveal the crime family’s existence, criminal activities and other secrets;

and swore to follow all orders issued by the crime family boss, including swearing to commit

murder if the boss directed it.

Methods and Means of the Enterprise

8. The principal purpose of the Colombo crime family was to generate
money for its members and associates. This purpose was implemented by members and
associates of the Colombo crime fami.ly through various criminal activities, including drug
trafﬁclﬁng, robbery, extortion, fraud, illegal gembling and loansharking. The members and
associates of the Colombo crime family also furthered the enterprise’s eriminal activities by
threatening economic injury and using and threatening to use physical violence, ineluding
murder.

9. Although the primary purpose of lthe Colombo crime family was to

| generate money for its members and associates, the members and associates at times used the

resources of the family to settle personal grievances and vendettas, sometimes without the
approval of higher-ranking members of the family. For those purposes, members and
associates of the enterprise were asked and expected to carry out, among other crimes, acts of

violence, including murder and assault.



10. The-memberfs. and associates of the Colombo crime family engaged in
- conduct designed to prevent government detection of their identities, their illegal activities
and the location of proceeds of those activities. That conduct included a commitment to
murdering persons, particularly members or associates of organized crime families, who
were perceived as poteritial witnesses against members and associates of the énterprise.

11.  Members and associates of the Colombo crime family often
coordinated criminal activity with members and associates of other organized crime families.

The Defendants

12.  The defendants JERRY.CIAURI, also known as “Fat J erry,” and VITO
DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” were soldiérs and associates within the
. Colombo crime family. |

13.  The defendants SALVATORE DISANO, also known as “Sal Heaven,”
and JOSEPH MARATEA were associates within the Colombo crime family.

14.  The defendant ANTHONY LICATA, also known-as “Anthony Suits,”
was a soldier within the Gambino éri‘me family. |

COUNT ONE
" (Racketeering)

15.  The .allegations contained in pafagraphs one through 14 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this parégraph.

16. . I_n or about and between December 2010 and June 2018, both dates
being apprdximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” VITO DIFALCO, also known as

“Victor” and “The Mask,” SALVATORE DISANO, also known as “Sal Heaven,” aﬁd :



JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, being persons émployed by and associated with
the Colombo crime famﬂy, an enterprise that engaged in, and the activities of which affected,
interstate and foreign commerce, did knovs'/ingly and intentionally conduct and participate,
directly and indireétly, in the conduct of the affairs of fhat enterprise through a pattern of
racketeering activity, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1961(1) and
1961(5), consisting of the racketeering acts set forth below.

RACKETEERING ACT ONE
(Extortionate Extension of Credit Conspiracy)

17.  Inor about and between January 2013 gnd August 2017, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant JERRY CIAURI, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to
make one or fnore extortionéte extensions of credit, m violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 892(a).

RACKETEERING ACT TWO S
(Illegal Gambling — Monday Night Football Pool Policy Scheme)

18. | In or about and between February 2014 and February 2018, both dates

‘ being approximate and inélusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendant
JERRY CIAURI, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally advance and profit
from unlawfui gambling activity by receiving, in connection with a policy scheme and
enterprise, more than $500 in any one day of\money played in such scheme and enterprise, in

violation of New York Penal Law Sections 225.10(2) and 20.00.



RACKETEERING ACT THREE
(Money Laundering Conspiracy/Money Laundering)

19.  The defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO
committed the following acts, either one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Three:

A. Money Laundering Conspiracy

20.  Inor about and between January 2015 aﬁd June 2018, both dates being -
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, togethel; with others, did
knowingly and intentionally conspire to conduct one or more financial transactions in and
affecting interstafe commerce, to wit: the transfer, delivery and deposit of United States
currency, which transactions were in fact to involve the proceeds of specified unlawful
activity, to wit: proceeds from CIAURI’s loansharking business, in violation of New York
Penal Law Sections 155.35 and 20.00 and Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a) and
2, knowing that the propel;ty to be involved in such transactions was to represent the
proceeds of some form of unlawful activity and ,'kn.owing that such transactions were to be
designed, in part, to conceal ‘and disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership,
and the control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, contrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i), in Vi.olation_of Title 18, United'States Code, Section
1956(h). |

B. Money Laundering

21.  Inor about and between January 2015 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the

defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, together with others, did



knowingly and intentionally conduct one or more financial transactions in and affecting
interstate commerce, to wit: the transfer, delivery and deposit of United States currency,
which transactions in facf involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, to wit:
proceeds froﬁq CIAURT’s loansharking business, in violation of New York Penal Law .
Sections 155.35 and 20.00 and Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a) and 2, knoﬁing
that the property involved in such transactions represented the proceeds of some form of
unlawful activity and knowing that such transactions were designed, in part, to conceal and
disguise the nature, the location, the source, the éwnership, and the control of the proceeds of
specified unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections
1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT FOUR
(Extortionate Extension of Credit Conspiracy)

22.  Inor about and between January 2017 and June 2018, both-dates being
. approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern Distriét of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
conspire to make one or more exfortionate extensions of credit, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 892(a).

RACKETEERING ACT FIVE

E (Extortion Conspiracy/Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #1)

23.  The defendant SALVATORE DISANO committed the following acts,

any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Five:



A. Extortion Conspiracy.

24.  In or about March 201 7, Within the Eastern Dist1'ict of New York and
elsewhere, the defendant SALVATORE DISANO, togéther with others, did knowingly and
intentionally conspire to steal property by extortion, in that the defendant and others agreed |
to obtain property, to wit: money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John
Doe #1, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, fo deliver such property by
instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the defendant and
others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the future, and (2) cause
damage to pr.operty, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i),
155.05(2)(e>(ii) and 105.10. |

B. Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy

23, in or about March 2017, within the Eastern District of New York and
elsewhere, the defendant SALVATORE DISANO, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally conspﬁe to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to
collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #1, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 894(a)(1).

C. Extortionate Collection of Credit

26. . Inor about March 2017, within the Eastern District of New York and
elsewhere, the defendant SALVATORE DISANO, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one

or more extensions of credit from John Doe #1, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Sections 894(a)(1) and 2.
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RACKETEERING ACT SIX
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/
Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #2)

27.  The defendant JERRY CIAURI committed the following acts, any one
of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Six:

A. Extortion Conspiracy

28, In or about and between August 2017 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant JERRY CIAURI, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire toA
steal proéerty by extortion, in that the defendant and others agrged to obtain property, to wit:
money, by éompelling and inducing another person, to wit: John Doe #2, an individual
whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to deliver such property by instilling in such
person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the defendant and others would
(1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the future, and (2) cduse damage to
property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i),
155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 105.10.

B. Extbrtion ; |
29.  In or about and between August 2017 and June 2018, 'both dates being
approximate and inclus'ive, within tfle Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant JERRY CIAURI, togefher with others, did knowingly and intentionélly steal
property by extortion, in that the defendant and others obtéined property, to wit: money, by
compelling and inducing another persoﬁ, to wit: John Doe #2, to deliver such property by |

instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the deéfendant and
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others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the future, and (2) cause
damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 15 5.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(1),
155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 20.00. |

C. Extortionate Collection of Credit Corispiracv

30. Inor about and between August 2017 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant JERRY CIAURLI, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to
participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or more
éxte_nsions of cred_it from John Doe #é, in Viélation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
894(a)(1).

D. Extortionate Collection of Credit

- 31.  Inor about and between August 2017 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and. elsewhere, the
defendant JERRY CIAURI, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally participate

.in the usé of extortionate means to collect and attempt té collect one or more extensions of
| -~ credit from John Doe #2, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1)

and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT SEVEN
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/
- Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #3)

32.  The defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO

committed the following acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Seven:
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A. Extortion Conspiracy

33.  In or about and between December 2017 and Juné 2018, both dates - -
‘being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New Ylork and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, together with others, did
knowingly and intentionally conspire to steal propérty By extortion, in that the defendants
and others agreed to obtain property, to wit: money, by compelling and inducing anothér
person, to wit: John Doe #3, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to
deliver such property by instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so
deli\‘/ered, the defendants and others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons
in the future, and (2) cause damage fo property, in violation of New York Penal Law
Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i), 15'5.05(2)(6)(ii). and 105.10.

B. Extortion

34.  Inor about and between December 2017 and June 201 8, bpth dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISAN O, together with othe_rs,. did
knowingly and intgntionally steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others
obtained property, to wit: money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John
Doe #3, to deliver such property by instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were
not so delivered, the defendants and others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more
persons in the fu-ture,- and (2) cause damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law '

Sections 155.40(2), 155.-05(2)(6)0), 155.05(2‘)(6)(ii)A and 20.00. | |
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C. Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy

35.  In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhel;e, the
~ defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, togethér with others, did
" knowingly and intentionally conspire to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect
and attempt to-. collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #3, in violation of
Title 18, United States Choile, Seetion 894(a)(1).

D. Extortionate Collection of Credit

36.  In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York énd elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DiSAN O, together with others, did
knowingly and intentionally participate in the use of extortionate means td collect and
attempt vto collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #3, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT EIGHT
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/

Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #4)

37.  The defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO
committed the following acts, any one of which alone constitutes Récketeering Act Eight:

A.  Extortion Conspiracy

38.  Inor about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and iﬁclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the -

defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, together with others, did
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knowingly and intentionally conspire to steal property by extortion, in that the defendants
and others agreed to obtain prbperty, to wit: mo.ney, by compelling and inducing another
person, to wit: John Doe #4, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to
deliver such property by instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so
delivered, the defendantsA and others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persoﬁs
‘in fhe future, and (2) cause damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law
Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i), 155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 105.10.

B. Extortion

39. In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York ’;dnd elsewhefe, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, together with others, did
knowingly and intentionally steal property by extortion, in that }theA defendants and others
obtained property, to wit: fnoney, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John
Doe #4, to deliver such property by instilling in such person a fear that, if the proﬁerfy were
not so delivered, the defendénts and others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more |
persons in the future, and (2) cause damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law

Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i), 155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 20.00.

34 Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy

40. Inor about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhei'e, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, together with others, did

knowingly and intentionally conspire to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect
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and attempt to collect one or more extér_lsions of credit from John Doe #4, in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Section 894(a)(1).

D. Extortionate Collection of Credit

41.  Inor about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, Within the Eastern District of New York and elséwhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, together with others, did
knowingly and intentionally participate in the use of extoi‘tioﬁate means to collect and
attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #4, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 2.

| | RACKETEERING ACT NINE
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/

Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #5)

42.  The defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO
committed the following acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Aét Nine:

A. Extortion Conspiracy

43.  In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and iﬁclusive, within the Eastern District of New York aﬁd elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, tpgether with others, did
knowingly and intentionally conspire to steal property by extortion, in that the defendants
and others agreed to obtain property, to wit: ﬁoney, by compelling and inducing another
person, to wit: John Doe #5, an individual whose identity is known to the Graﬁd'Jury, to
delilver such property by instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so

delivered, the defendants ar_ld’other's would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons
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in the future, and (2) cause damage to property, in violation of Né\%/ York Penal Law
Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i), 155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 1(_)5.10.

B. Extortion |

4. In or about and between December 2017 énd June 2018, both dates

being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York aﬁd elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, together with others did
knowiﬁgly and intentionally steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others .
ob’gained property, to wit: money, by cofnpelling and inducing another person, to wit: John
Doe #5, to deliver such property by instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were
not so delivered, the defendants and others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more
persons in the _fu;[ure, and (2) cause damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law
Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i), 155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 20.00.

C. Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy

45.  In or about and between December 2017 and June 20'18, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, together with others, did
knowingly and intentionally conspir'e to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect
and attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #5 . in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 894(a)(1).

D.  Extortionate Collection of Credit

46.  In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the

defendants JERRY CIAURI and SALVATORE DISANO, together with others, did
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~ knowingly and intentionally participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and
attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #5, in violation of Title 18,

United St>ates Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT TEN
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/ _
Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #6)

47.  The defendants JERRY CIAURI and VITO DIFALCO committed the
following acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Ten:

A. Extortion Conspiracy

48. in or about and between December 2-017 and June 2018, both dates |
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and VITC DIFALCO, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally conspire to steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others agreed
to obtain property, to wit: money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John
Doe #6, anA individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to deliver such property by
instilling in sﬁchlperson a fear that, if the property Were not so delivered, the defendants and 7
others would (1) cause physical injury to -one or more persons in the future, and (2) cause
- . damage to property, in Violatipn of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i), -
155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 105.10.

B. Extortion

49.  In or about and between Decembeér 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the

defendénts JERRY CIAURI and VITO DIFALCO, together with others, did knowingly and
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intentionally steal property by éxtortion, in that the defendants and others obtained property,
to wit: money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John Doe #6, to déliver
such pr’opérty by instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered,
the defendants and others would (i) cause physical injury to-one or more bersons in the
future, and (2).cause damage to property, inviolation of New York Penal Law Sections
155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i), 155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 20.00.

3] Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy

50. In orlabout and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being apprdximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New quk and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and VITO DIFALCO, together with others, did knoWineg and
" intentionally conspire to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and atterhpt to
éollect one or more extensioné of credit from John Doe #6, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 894(a)(1).

D. Extortionate Collection of Credit

- 51.  Inorabout aﬁd betweeh December 2017 and June 20‘18, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURi and VITO DIFALCO, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally participate in the ﬁse of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one

or more extensions of credit from John Doe #6, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

- Sections 894(a)(1) and 2.
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RACKETEERING ACT ELEVEN
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/
Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #7)

52.  The defendants JERRY CIAURI and VITO DIFALCO committed the
following acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Eleven:

A. Extortion Conspiracy

53.  In or about and between December 2017'and June 2018, both dates
being appr-oximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendan;[s JERRY CIAURI and VITO DIFALCO, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally conspire to steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others agreed
to obtain property, to wit: money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John
Doe #7, an individual whose identity is known- to the Grand Jury, to deliver such property by
instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the defendants and
others‘ would (1) cause physical iﬁjury to one or moi‘e persons in the future, and (2) cause
~ damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i),

155;05(2)(e)(ii) and 105.10.
 B. Extortion
54.  In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both_ dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Easteﬁl District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and VITO DIFALCO, ltog.ethér with others, did knowingly and
“intentionally steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others obtained property,
to wit: money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: J ohn Doe #7, to deliver

such property by instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered,
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the defendants and others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the
future, and (2) cause damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections
155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i), 155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 20.00.

C. Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy

55.  In or about and between Decembeér 2017 and Juné 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and VITO DIFALCO, together with others, did knowingly andi
intentionally conspire to participate in the use of extortionate means to coll.ect and attempt to
collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #7, in violation of Title 18, United
States Code, Section 894(a)(1).

D. Extortionate Collection of Credit

56.  In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusiv.e, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI and VITO DIFALCO, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one
or more extensions of credit from John Doe #7, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 894(a)(1) and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT TWELVE
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/

Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — J ohn Doe #8)

57. The defendants VITO DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA committed

the following acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Twelve: -



21

A. Extortion Conspiracy

58.  In or about and between J ahuary 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did kn_owingly.and intentionally
conspire to steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others agreed to obtain
property, to wit: money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: john Doe #8, an
individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to deliver such property by instilling in
such person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the defendants and others
would (1) cause physical injury to one or more perséns in the future, and (2) cause damage to
property, in violation of New Ybrk Penal Law Sectiong 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i),
155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 105.10. |

B. Extortion

59.  Inor about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximafe and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, thel defendants VITO
DIFALCO aﬁd JOSEPH MARATEA, tbgether with others, did knowingly and intentionally
steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and bthefs obtained properfy, to wit:
money, by compelling and inducing anothef person, to wit: John Doe #8, to deliver such
property by instilliﬁg in such person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the
defendants and others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the future,

and (2) cause damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2),

155.05(2)(e)(i), 155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 20.00.
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C. Extortiqnate Collection of Credit Conspiracy

60. Inor abou£ and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being

approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
'DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
conspiré to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one -
or more extensions of credit from John Doe #8, in violation of Title 18, United .States Codé,

Section 894(a)(1).

D. Extortionate Collection of Credit

61.  Inor about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or more
extensions of_credit from John Doe #8, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

894(a)(1) and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT THIRTEEN
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/
Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #9)

62. The defendants VITO DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA _committed

the following acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Thirteen:

A, Extortion Conspiracy

63. - In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO

DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
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conspire to steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others agreed to obtain
~property, to wit: money, by compelling énd inducing another person, to wit: John Doe #9, an
individual whose identi’;y is known to the Grand Jury, to deliver suéh property by instilling in
' éuch person a fear that, if the -property were not so delivered, the defendants and others |
would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the future, and (2) cause damage to
property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i),
155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 105.10. |
B. Extortion

64. Inor about_and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and -inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
steal property by extortion, in that the defendant and others obtained property, to wit: money,
by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John Doe #9, to deliver such property by
instilling in such pérson a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the defendants and
others would (1) cause physiéal injury to one or more persons in the future, and (2) cause

damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i),

155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 20.00.

C. Extortionate Collection of leedit Conspiracy
65. | In or about and between J anuary 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, togethér with others, did knowingly and intentionally

_conspire to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect.one
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or more extensions of credit from John Doe #9, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 894(a)(1).

D.  Extortionate Collection of Credit

66.  In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both datés being
approximate and inclusive,l within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with ofhers, did knowingly and intentionally
participate in the use of extoﬁionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or mo1"e
extensions of credit from John Doe #9, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections
894(a)(1) and 2. |

RACKETEERING ACT FOURTEEN
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/

Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #10)

67.  The defendants VITO DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA commiited
the following acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Fourteen:

A. Extortion Conspiracy

68.  Inor about and between January 2018 and june 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusivé, within the Eastern Distl'ict of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
conspire to steal property by extortion, rin that the defendants and others agreed to obtain
property, to wit: money, by compelling and inducing another persoh, to wit: John Doe #10,
an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to deliver such property by
instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the defendants and

others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the future, and (2) cause
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damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i),

155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 105.10.
B. Extortion

69.  In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
_steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others obtéined property, to wit:
money, by compelling and inducing another person, to Wit: John Doe #10, to deliver such
property by instilling in such person é feér that, if the property were not so delivered, the
defendants and others would (1) cause physiczﬂ injury to one or more persons in the future,
and (2) cause damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2),
155.05(2)(e)(i), 155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 20.00.

C. Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy

70.  In or about and bet»we»en January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, Within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
conspire to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one
or more extens_ions of credit from John Doe #10, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 894(a)(1). |

D. Extortionate Collection of Credit

71.  In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the défendants VITO

DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with chérs, did knowingly and intentionally
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participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or more

extensions of credit from John Doe #10, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Sections 894(a)(1) and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT FIFTEEN
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/
Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #11)

72.  The defendants VITO DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA committed
the following acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Fifteen:

A. Extortion Conspiracy

73.  In or about and between J anuary 20.1 8 and June 2018, both dates being
approxiinate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, togethér with others, did knowingly and intentionally
conspire to steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others agreed to obtain
property, to wit: money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John Doe #11,
an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to deliver such property by
instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the defendants and
others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the future, and (2) cause
damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(i),
155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 105.10.

B.  Extortion

74.  In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO

DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
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steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others obtained property, to wit:
money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John Doe #11, to deliver such
property by instilling in such person a fear that, if the property Were not so delivered, the
defendants and others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the future,
and (2) cause damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.40(2),
155.05(2)(e)(i), 155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 20.00.

C. Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy

75.  Inor about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
conspire to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect oneA ‘
or more extensions of credit from John boe #11, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 894(a)(1).

D. Extortionate Collection of Credit

76.  In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and aﬁerﬁpt to collect one or more

extensions of credit from John Doe #11, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Sections 894(a)( 1) and 2.
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RACKETEERING ACT SIXTEEN
(Extortion Conspiracy/Extortion/
Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy/
“Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #12)

7. The defendants VITO DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA committed

the following acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Sixteen:

A. Extortion Conspiracy

78.  Inor about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern Distrid of New York, the defendants VITO
DIF ALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did kndwingly and intentionally
conspire to steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and others agreed to obtain
property, to wit: money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John Doe #12,
an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to deliver such property by
instilling in such iaerson a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the defendants and
others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the future, and (2) cause
\ damage to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 15 5.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(1),
155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 105.10.

B. Extortion

79.  Inor about and between January 2018 ;zalnd June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclﬁsive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others,'did knowingly and intentionally
steal property by extortion, in that the defendants and ot_hérs obtained property, to wit:
money, by compelling and inducing another person, to wit: John Doe #12, to deliver such

property by instilling in such person a fear that, if the property were not so delivered, the
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defendants and others would (1) cause physical injury to one or more persons in the future,
and (2) cause damége to property, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 15 5.40(2),
155.05(2)(e)(i), 155-.05(2)(6)(ii) and 20.00.

C. Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy

80.  In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
'DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
conspire to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one
or more extensions of credit from John Doe #12, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 894(a)(1).

L Extortionate Collection of Credit

81.  In or about and between January 2018‘ and June '201 8, both dates being-
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did I;nowingly and intentionally
participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one-or more
extensioné of credit from John Doe #12, in violation of Title 18, United Statés Code,

Sections 894(a)(1) and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT SEVENTEEN
(Extortion/Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #13)

82.  The defendant VITO DIFALCO committed fhe following acts, either

one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Seventeen:
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- A Extortion

83.  In or about and betwgen January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusiv‘e, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendant VITO
DIFALCO, together with others, did knowing_ly and intentionally steal property by extortion,
in that the defendant and others obtained property, to wit: fnoney, by compélling and
inducing another person, to wit: J ohn Doe #13, an individual' whose idéntity is known to the
Grand Jury, to deliver such propérty by instilling in such person a fear that, if the property
were not so delivered, the défendént and others would (1) cause physical injury to one or
more persons in thé future, and (2) cause damage to préperty, in violation of New York Penal

Law Sections 155.40(2), 155.05(2)(e)(1), 155.05(2)(e)(ii) and 20.00.

B. Extortionate Collection of Credit

84. ~ In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, Within the Eastern District of New York, the defendant VITO
DIFALCO, together with others, did knowingly and intentioﬁally participate in the use of
extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from
John Doe #13, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT EIGHTEEN
(Illegal Gambling — Sports-Betting)

85.  In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dat¢s being
approximate and -inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant VITO DIFALCO, together with others, did knowingly and intentionélly conduct,
finance, manage, supervise, diréct and own part of an illegal ‘garnblinlc-_g,r business, to wit: a

gambling business involving sports-betting and bookmaking, which operated in violation of
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the laws of New York State, to wit: New York Penal Law‘ Sections 225.05 and 20.00, which
involved five or more persons who conducted, ﬁnanced? managed, supervised, directed and
owned part of such business and which remained in substantially contiﬁuoﬁs operation for

. one or more periods in excess of 30 days and had a gross revenue of at least $2,000 in any

| single day, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1955(a) and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT NINETEEN
(Illegal Gambling — Super Bowl Pool Policy Scheme)

86. Inor abon and between January 2018 and F ebrtiary 2018, both dates

~ being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern Djstric_t of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants VITO DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA,‘ together with others, did knowingly
and intentionally advance and profit from unlawful gambling activity by receiving, in‘
connection with a policy scheme and enterprise, (a) money and records from one or more
persons other than a player whose chances and plays were represénted by such money and
records, and (b) more than $500 in any one day of money played in such scheme and
enterprise, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 225.10(2) and 20.00.

RACKETEERING ACT TWENTY
(Illegal Gambling — Video Gambling Machines)

87.  Inor about and between February 2018 and May 2018, both dates
being approxi‘mate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New. York and elséwhere, the
defendant VITO VDI.FALCO, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conduct,
finance, manage, supervise, direct and own part of an illegal gambling business, to wit: a
gambling business involving the use of video gambling machines, which operated in
violation of the laws of New York State, to wit: New York Penal Law Sections 225.05,

225.30(a)(2) and 20.00, which involved five or more persons who conducted, financed,
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managed, supervised, directed and owned part of such business and which remained in
substantially continuous operation for one or more periods in excess of thirty days and had a
gross revenue of at least $2,000 in any single day, in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1955(a) and 2.

RACKETEERING ACT TWENTY-ONE
(Illegal Gambling — March Madness Pool Policy Scheme)

88.  In or about Méi‘ch 2018, within the Eastern District of New York, the
defendants VITO DIFALCO and JOSEPH MARATEA, together with others, did .knowingly
and intentionally advance and profit from unlawful gambling activity by receiving, in
connection with a policy scheme and enterprise, (a) money and records from one or more
persons other than .a player whose chances and plays were represented by such money and
records, and (b) more than $500 in any one day of money played in sﬁch scheme and
enterprise, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 225.10(2) and Q0.00.

(Title 18, United States Céde, Secﬁons 1962(c), 1963 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWO
(Extortionate Extension of Credit Conspiracy)

| 89. - The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 12 are realleged
“and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

90. In or about and between January 2013 and August 2017, both datesr
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant JERRY CIAURI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” together with others, did knowingly
and intentionally conspire to make one or more extortionate extensions of credit.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 892(a) and 3551 et seq.)
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COUNT THREE
(Money Laundering Conspiracy)

91.  Inor about and between January 2015 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastem District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURLI, also known as “Fat J erfy,” VITO DIFALCO, also known as
“Victor” and “The .Mask,” and SALVATORE DISANO, aiso known as “Sal Heaven,”
- together with otheré, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to conduct one or more
- financial transactions in énd_affecting interstate commerce, to wit: the transfer, délivery and
deposit of United Sfates currency, which transactions were in fact to involve the proceeds of
specbiﬁed unlaWﬁll activity, to wit: proceeds from CIAURI’s loansharking business, in
violation of New York Penal Law Sections 155.35 and 20.00 and Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 894(a) and 2, knowing that the property to be involved in such transactions
was to represent the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, with the intent to promote
the carrying on of the speciﬁed unlawful activity, and knowing that such transactions were to
be designed, in part, to conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the source, the
ownership, and the control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, contrary to Title
18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) and 1956(a)(1)(B)(i).

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT FOUR
-(Money Laundering)

92.  Inor about and between J anuary 2015 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” VITO DIFALCO, alsol'known as

“Victor” and “The Mask,” and SALVATORE DISANO, also known as “Sal Heaven,”
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together with bthers, did knowingly and ihtenfionally conduct one or moré financial
transactions in and_ affecting interstate commerce, to wit: the transfer, delivery and deposit of
United Stétes currency, which transactions in fact involved the proceeds of specified
unlawful activity, to wit: proceeds from CIAURI’s loansharking business, in Violation of
New YbrkPenal Law Sections 155.35 and 20.00 and Title 18, Unifed States Code, Sections
894(a) and 2, knowing that the property involved in such transactions represented the
proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, with the intent to promote the carrying on of fhe :
specified unlawful activity, and knowing that such transactions were designed, in part, to
conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership, and the control of
the proceeds of specified unlawful acﬁvity.

'(Titlé 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i), 1956(a)(1)(B)(i); 2
and 3551 et §6>_g.) |

COUNT FIVE
(Extortionate Extension of Credit Conspiracy)

93.  The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

94. In or about and between January 2017 and June 2018, both dates beiﬁg
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” and JOSEPH MARATEA, together
with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to make one or more extoﬂionaté |

extensions of credit.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 892(a) and 3551 et seq.)
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COUNT SIX
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #1)

95. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 11 and 13 through
14 are realleged and incorporated as if fﬁlly set forth in this paragraph. '

96.  In or about March 2017, within the Eastern District of New York and
elsewhare, the defendants SALVATORE DISANO, also known as Sal Heaven,"’ and
ANTHONY LICATA, also known as “Anthony Suits,” together with others, did knowingly '
and intentionally conspire to paa'ticipate in the use of eXtortionate means to collect and
attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #1. |

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 et seq.)

. COUNT SEVEN
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #1)

97.  The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 11 and 13 through

14 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragfaph. .
| 98.  Inor about March 2017, within the Eastern District of New York and

elsewhere, £he defendants SALVATORE DISANO, also known as Sal Heaven,” and
ANTHONY LICATA, also known as “Anthony Suits,” together with others, did knowingly
and intentionally participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect
~ one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #1. |
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

| | COUNTEIGHT .
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #2)

99.  The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 12 are realleged

and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.
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100. In or about and between August 2017 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant JERRY CIAURI, also known as “Fat J erry,” together with others, did knowingly
and intentionally cqnspiré to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and
attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #2.

(Title 18, United States. Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 _e_t' seq.)

COUNT NINE .
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #2)

101. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 12 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

102. Inor abqut and between August 2017 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and iﬁclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant JERRY CIAURI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” together with others, did knowingly
and intentionally participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect
one or more éxténsions of crgdit from John Doe #2.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)’

COUNT TEN .
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #3)

103. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

104. In or about and bétween December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and iﬁclusive, Within the Eastern Disfrict of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURYI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” and SALVATORE DISANO, also

known as “Sal Heaven,” together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to
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participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or more

extensions of credit from John Doe #3. -
" (Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 et seq.)

- COUNT ELEVEN _
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #3)

- 105. The allegations contained in pdragraphs one through 13 are réalleged
and incorporated. as if fully set forth in thié paragraph..

106. In or about and between December 20V17 and Juﬁe 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within thé Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants.JERRY CIAURI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” én_d SALVATORE DISANO, also
known as “Sal Heaven,” together with others, did knowingly and intentionally participate in
the use of extortionate means to collect and éttempt to collect one or more _extensions of
credit from John Doe #3.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWELVE ‘
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #4)

107.  The allegations contained in paragraphs one tﬁrou}gh 137 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this péragraph.

108. In or about and between Decembér 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of Ner York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” and SALVATORE DISANO, alsro

known as “Sal Heaven,” together with others, did knowingly and intentiohally conspilie to
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participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or more .
extensions of credit from John Doe #4.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT THIRTEEN
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #4)

109. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged
and incorporated as if ful_ly set forth in this paragraph.

110. In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAUR]I, also known as “Fat Jerry,” and SALVATORE DISANO, also
known as “Sal Heaven,” together with others, did knowingly and intentionally participate in
the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt fo collect one or more extensions of
credit from John Doe #4.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT FOURTEEN
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #5)

1'1 1. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

112. In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximaté and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhefe, the
defendants JERRY CIAURLI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” and SALVATORE DISANO, also

known as “Sal Heaven,” together withiothers, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to



39

participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or more
- extensions of credit from John Doe #5.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT FIFTEEN
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #5)

113.  The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 1.3 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

114. 1In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, Athe
defendants JERRY CIAURI, also known as “Fat J erry,” and SALVATQRE DISANO, also
known as “Sal Heaven,” together with others, did knowingly and intentionally participate in
the use of extortionate means to collgct and attempt to collect one or more extensions of
credit from John Doer#S. -

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT SIXTEEN ,
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #6)

115.  The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 12 are realleged |
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

116. Tn or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusiye, within the Eastern District of New York and elsev&here, the
defendanté JERRY CIAURYI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” and VITO DIFALCO, also known

as “Victor” and “The Mask,” together with othérs, did knowingly and intentionally conspire
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to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or more
extensions of credit from John Doe #6.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 et seq.)

- COUNT SEVENTEEN
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #6)

- 117.  The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 12 are realleged

and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph. , | |

118. Inor ébout and between Deéember 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CIAURI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” and VITO DIFALCO, also known
as “Victor” and “The Mask,” together with others, did knowingly and intentionally -
participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or more
extensions of credit from J ohn Doe #6.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT EIGHTEEN
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy —J ohn Doe #7)

119. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 12 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph. |

120. In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants JERRY CiAURI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” and VITO DIFALCO, also knowﬁ

as “Victor” and “The Mask,” together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire
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to participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect one or more

extensions of credit from John Doe #7.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 et seq.)

: COUNT NINETEEN
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #7)

121. The allegations contained» in paragraphs one through 12 are i'ealleged
and incorporated as if fuily set forth in this paragraph.

122. In or about and between December 2017 and June 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants- JERRY CIAURLI, also known as “Fat Jerry,” and VITO DIFALCO, also known
as “Victor” and ‘;The Mask,” together with others, di.d knowingly and infentionally
participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to colleét one or more
extensions of credit from J ohn Doe #7. |

(Title 18, United States Code, Secﬁons 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWENTY
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #8)

123. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged
and incorpdrated as if fully set forth in this paragraph. |

124. In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximaté and inclusive, Withih the Eastefn District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” and JOSEPH MARATEA, together
with others, did knowingly and intenﬁonally conspire to participate in the use of extortionate
means to collect and attempf to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #8.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 et seq.)
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_ COUNT TWENTY-ONE
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #8)

125.  The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged
and incorporated as if ﬁllly set forth in this paragraph.

126. Inor abbut and betweenJ anuary 2018 and June 2018, both dates being |
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO |
DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” and JOSEPH MARATEA, together
with others, did knowingly and intentionally participate in the use of extortionate means to
collect and attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #8.

(Tiﬂe 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

: COUNT TWENTY-TWO
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #9)

127. The allegations contained in pafagraphs one through 13 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.
| 128. 1In or about and between January 2018 and june 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New Yorl%, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” and JOSEPH MARATEA, together
with others, did knowingly and inténtionally conspire to participate in the use of extortionate
means to collect and attempf to collect one or fnofe exteasions of credit from John Doe #9.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894‘(a)(1) and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWENTY-THREE
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #9)

129. The allegatioﬁs contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged

and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.
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130. In or about and befween January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
appr'oximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” and JOSEPH MARATEA, together
with others, did knowingly and intentionally pal“ticipate in the usé of extortionate means to
collect and attempt to collect one or more extens_ions of credit from John Doe #9.

| (Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWENTY-FOUR
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #10)

| 131. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

132. Inor about and.between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New Yoi'k, the defendants VITO
DIFAI;CO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” and JOSEPH MARATEA, togéther
with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to participate in the use of extortionate
means to collect and attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #10.

_ '(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWENTY-FIVE
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #10)

133, The»allegati'ons contained in paragraphs one throu§h 13 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.
| 134. In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of NeW York, the defendants VITO

DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” and JOSEPH MARATEA, together
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with others, did knowingly and intentionally participate in the use of extortionate means to
collect and attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #10.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWENTY-SIX
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #11)

135. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged

%

| and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

136. In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” and JOSEPH MARATEA, together
with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to participate in the use of extortionate
means to collect and attempt to collect one or more extepsions of credit from John Doe #11.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 et g:g.)‘

COUNT TWENTY-SEVEN
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #11)

137. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph..

138. In or about and Between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” and J.OSEPH MARATEA, toéether
with others, did knowingly and intentionally pafticipéte in the use of extortionate means to
céllect and attempt to coilect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #11.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)



45

COUNT TWENTY-EIGHT
(Extortionate Collection of Credit Conspiracy — John Doe #12)

139. The allegatiohs contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged
and incorpofated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

140. In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, .both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO -
DIFALCO, also known as “Vi‘lctor” and “The Mask,” and JOSEPH MARATEA, together
with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to participate in the use of extortionate
means to collect and attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #12.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a)(1) and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWENTY-NINE
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #12)

141. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 13 are realleged -
and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraphf

142. In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximat'e and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendants VITO
DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” and J QSEPH MARATEA, together
with others, did knowingly and intentionally pérticipat_e in the use of extortionate means to
collect and attempt to collect one or more extensions of credit from John Doe #12.

(Title 18, United Sfétes Code, Sections 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT THIRTY
(Extortionate Collection of Credit — John Doe #13)

143. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 12 are realleged

- and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.
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144. In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York, the defendant VITO
DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” together with others, did knowingly
and intentionally participate in the use of extortionate means to collect and attempt to collect
one or more éxténsions of credit from John Doe #13.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sectioﬁs 894(a)(1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT THIRTY-ONE
(Illegal Gambling — Sports-Betting)

~145. In or about and between January 2018 and June 2018, bofh dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant VITO DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” and “The Mask,” together with others,
- did knowingly and intentionally conduct, finance, manage, supervise, direct and own part of
én illegal gambling business, to wit: a gambling Business»involving sports-bettiﬁg and
bookmaking, which operated in violation of the laws of New York State, to wit: New York
Penal Law Sections 225.05 énd 20.00, which involved five or more persons who conducted,
financed, managed, supérvised, directed and owned part of such business and which
remained in substantially continuous operation for orié or more periods in excess of 30 days
‘and had a gross revenue of at least $2,000 in-any 'si.ngle day.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1955(a), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT THIRTY-TWO
(Illegal Gambling — Video Gambling Machines)

146. In or about and between February 2018 and May 2018, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Bastern District of New York and elsewhere, the

defendant VITO DIFALCO, also known as “Victor” énd “The Mask,” together with others,
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did knowingly and intentionally conduct, finance, manage, supervise, direct and own part of
an illegal gambling business, to wit: a gambling business involving the use of video
gambling machines, which operated in violation of the laws of New York State, to wit: New
quk Penal Law Sections 225.05, 225.30(a)(2) and 20.00, which involved five or more
persons who conducted, financed, managed, supervised, directed and owned part of such
Business and which remained in substantially continuous operation for one or more periods
in excess of 30 days and had a gross 1‘evenﬁe of at least $2,000 in any single day.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1955(a), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION AS TO COUNT ONE

147. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendants charged in
Count One that, upon their conviction of such offense, the government will seek forfeiture in
accordance with Title 1A8, United States Code, Section 1963(a), which requires any person
convicted of such offense to forfeit: (a) any interest the person acquired or maintained in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962; (b) any interest in, security of, claim
~ against, or property or contractual right of any kind affording a source of influence over any
enterprise which the person has established, operated, controlled, conducted or participated
in the conduct of, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962; and (c) any
property constituting, or derived from, any proceeds which the person obtained, directly or
indirectly, from racketeering activity in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
1962, including but not limited to the real property and premises located at 7724 13th
Avenue, Brooklyn, New York.

148. If any of the above-deécribed forfeitable property, as a result of any act

or omission of said defendants:
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(a)  cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

(b)  has been transferred or sold to, §r,deposited with, a third party;

(©) ~ has been placed beybnd the jurisdiction of the court; |

(d)  has been substantially diminished in value; or |

(e)  has been commingled with other property which cannot be
divided without difficulty; | |
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section
1963(m), to seek forfeiture of any othér property of said defendants up to the value 6f the
forfeitable property described in this forfeiture allegation.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1963(a) and 1963(m))

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNTS TWO AND FIVE THROUGH THIRTY

149.  The United States hereby gives notice to the defendants charged in
" Counts Two and Five through Thirty that, upon their conviction of any such offense, the
government will seek forfeiture in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section
981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States ACovde,- Section 2461(c), which require any person
convicted of such offenses to forfeit any property; real or personal, constituting, or derived
from, procéeds obtained directly or indirectly as a result of .such offenses.
150. Ifany of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act

or omission of said defendants: |

(a)  cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

(b)  has been trénsferred- or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

(c)  has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
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(d)  has been substantially diminished in value; or

(e)  has been commingled with other property which cannot be
divided without difficulty; |
it is the intent of the United S_tatps, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p),
to seek forfeiture of any other property of said defendants up to the Valué of the forfeitable
property described in this forfeiture allegation.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C); Title 21, United States

Code, Section 853(p); Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c))

- CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNTS THREE AND FOUR

151. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendants chargéd in
‘Counts Three and Four that, upon their conviction of either such offense, the government
 will seek forfeiture in accordaﬁce with Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1),
WhiCh requires ény person convicted of such offense to forfeit any property, real or personal,
involved in such offenses, or any property traceable to such property.-
152. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act
or omission of said defendants:
(a)  cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited With; a third party;
(c)  has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; .
(@ - h;as been substantially di@inished in value; or

(e)  has been commingled with other property which cannot be

divided without difficulty;
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it is the iﬁtent of the United States, pursuaht to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p),
as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1), to seek forfeiture of any
other property of said defendants up to the value of the forfeitable property described in this
forfeiture allegation. |

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(1) and 982(b)(1); Title 21,.

United States Code, Section 853(p))

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNTS THIRTY-ONE AND THIRTY-TWO

153.  The United States hereby gives notice to the defendant charged in
Counts Thirty-One and Thirty-Two that, upon his cdnviction of either such offense, the
government will seek forfeiture in accordance with (a) Title 18, Unite;d States Code, Section
981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, Unitéd States Code, Section 2461(_0), which require any pefson
convicted of .such offenses to forfeit any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds
obtained directly or indirectly as a result of such offenses; and (b) Title 18, United States
Code, Section 1955(d), which provides for the forfeiture of any property, including money,
used in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1955.

154. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act
: of omission of éaid defgndant; |
(a)  cannot be located ﬁpon the exercise of due diligence;
(b)  has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third»pal“ty;
(c)' has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

(d)  has been substantially diminished in value; or
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(e)  has been commingled with other property which cannot be
divided without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States can, Section 853(p),
to seek forfeiture of any other property of said defendant up to the value of the forfeitable

property described in this forfeiture allegation.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 981(a)(1)(C) and 1955(d); Title 21,

United States Code, Section 853(p); Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c))
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